047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SURNEME COURT

Chief Deputy Cletk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

CASE NO. 76,254

(TFB No.: 88-10,252 (6B)

88-10,335 (6B)

88-10,336 (6B)

88-11,451 (6B)

89-10,588 (6B)

JOSEPH P. CILLO,

v.

Respondent.

Complainant,

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

DAVID R. RISTOFF
Branch Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
Suite C-49
Tampa Airport Marriott Hotel
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 875-9821
Florida Bar #358576

JOSEPH A. CORSMEIER
Assistant Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
Suite C-49
Tampa Airport Marriott Hotel
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 875-9821
Florida Bar No. 492582

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 4, 1989, the Sixth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "B" found probable cause for further disciplinary proceedings. The Florida Bar filed a formal Complaint with the Supreme Court of Florida on June 27, 1990. Respondent filed an Answer to the Complaint on July 19, 1990.

On August 9, **1990,** Judge Vernon Evans was assigned as Referee by Court Order.

Final Hearings were scheduled and held on March 13, 14, and 15, 1991.

An Order granting leave to The Florida Bar to file said Complaint was entered on January 11, 1990 and an Amended Complaint was filed on February 5, 1991.

A Disciplinary Hearing was held on April 26, 1991. A Motion by The Florida Bar to Amend the Amended Complaint to conform to the evidence was granted on April 26, 1991.

The Report of Referee was served on or about May 9, 1991. The Florida Bar Board of Governors voted to seek review of the Report of Referee as to the findings of fact, conclusions of law and the discipline imposed at its meeting which ended May 31, 1991, seeking disbarment. A Petition for Review has been filed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

(TFB No. 88-10,252 (68))

In or about 1985, John D. Lenoir was introduced to Respondent. (TR I, p.97, L.3-5). Respondent held himself out as an attorney licensed to practice law in Texas. (TR I, p.100, L.22-25, p.101 1-3, p.144, L.7-25, p.145, L. 1-25, p.146, L.1-12). Respondent, at all times relevant to this Count, was licensed to practice law only in the State of Florida. (R. Amended Complaint, paragraph 4, Answer paragraph 4).

Respondent agreed to represent John Lenoir in creating a corporation known as Liberty Limited, Inc. to market and sell precious metals. The corporation was to be based in Nevada. (TR I, p.100, L.22-25, p.101, L.1-19). The corporation was eventually incorporated in the State of Texas. (TR I, p. 101, L.11-14). Mr. Lenoir testified that Respondent charged a fee for this representation. (TR I, p. 101, L.20-25, p.102, L.1-12).

Respondent **also** agreed to represent the corporation to insure compliance with various federal "blue **sky**" regulatory requirements. Respondent was to receive a percentage of the profits of the corporation as compensation for his legal services. **The** regulatory requirements were never fulfilled. (TR I, p.102, L.16-25, p.103, L.1-19, p.104, L.5-23).

Sometime after May, 1986, Respondent approached Mr. Lenoir to purchase a diamond ring. Mr. Lenoir had moved from Dallas to Nevada but his wife, Deborah Lenoir remained in Dallas. Mr. Lenoir arranged for Deborah Lenoir to show the two rings to Respondent at the bank in Dallas where she was employed. Respondent examined both rings and purchased one ring for \$4,200.00. (TR.I, p.110, L.12-25, p.111, L. 1-22). Deborah Lenoir had resigned her position as manager of the bank and was moving to Mississippi. Respondent wrote a personal check for the diamond ring which was dishonored for insufficient funds, As a result of the dishonored check, fifteen (15) to twenty (20) checks written by the Lenoirs on their checking account were dishonored. (TR I, p.112, L.10-22, p. 152, L.17-22). Both Mr. and Mrs. Lenoir made numerous attempts to contact Respondent by telephone. (TR I, p.114, L.23-25). Respondent initially stated that secretary had stolen money from his business and personal bank accounts and his home had been burglarized. Respondent assured Mrs. Lenoir that he would pay the money back with client funds that he anticipated receiving. I, p.113, L.2-25, p.114, L.1-5). After making numerous attempts to contact Respondent, Deborah Lenoir drove from Mississippi to Dallas, Texas at the end of August, 1986. Respondent gave Mrs. Lenoir a check for \$5,000.00 to cover the original check, plus expenses. Respondent directed Mrs. Lenair to hold the check for a week to ten days and that he

would call when the check could be deposited. (TR I., p. 154, L.5-24, p.157, L.2-6). The Respondent never called and the check was never made good. The account on which the check was written was eventually closed by Respondent. I, p.157, L.7-20). After determining that there were insufficient funds in Respondent's account, Mrs. Lenoir went to Dallas from Mississippi a second time. (TR I, p.159, L. 4-25, p.160, L.1-14). After an argument with Respondent, Mrs. Lenoir left Dallas without payment from Respondent. Respondent then moved his office without providing notice or any forwarding address to the Lenoirs. (TR I, p.158, L.13-21). Respondent sent a certified check to the Lenoirs for \$4,200.00 in the Summer of 1988 after receiving notice that the Lenoirs had listed him as a debtor in the bankruptcy proceedings. (TR I, p.121, L.24-25, p.22, L. 1-21). Respondent paid \$4,200.00, the face amount of the dishonored check, two (2) years after writing the worthless check. The \$4,200.00 check from Respondent in the Summer of 1988 was submitted one (1) year after the filing of the Lenoir complaint with The Florida Bar. (TR I, p.121, L.14-16).

<u>COUNT II</u> (TFB No. 88-10,335 (6B))

In 1984 and 1985, Respondent served as president, chief executive officer, and corporate legal counsel for Resources International, Ltd. (RIL). Respondent was also a stockholder in RIL. (R. Amended Complaint paragraph 16, Answer paragraph 16).

Sometime in 1984, James Joyce, President of Joyce Western Corporation, received **a** telephone call from Rick Bounds, an employee of RIL. (TR 111, p.435, L.14-25). Rick Bounds contacted Mr. Joyce on behalf of RIL and wanted Mr. Joyce to meet with a David Sterns. (TR III, p.435 L. 24-25 and p.436, L.1-4). Mr. Joyce agreed to meet with Mr. Sterns to discuss financing the completion of a pipeline near Chester, West Virginia. After meeting with Mr. Sterns and Mr. Bounds, Mr. Joyce decided not to participate in financing the pipeline. (TR. 111, p.436, L.6-25 and p.437, L.1).

Mr. Joyce was again contacted by Mr. Bounds in 1984.

Mr. Bounds asked Mr. Joyce to meet with Respondent, who had succeeded Mr. Sterns as the president of RIL. Mr. Joyce met with Respondent in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania in 1984.

Respondent told Mr. Joyce that he was an attorney. (TR 111, p.437, L.2-25, TR 111, p.446 L.11-16). Respondent represented at that time that there were various leaseholds for mineral rights in Chester, West Virginia, that all

obligations on the leaseholds were "completely clear", and that there was only one outstanding obligation to Combustion Engineering. Respondent further stated that payment of the obligation to Combustion Engineering would extinguish all outstanding obligations on the property. (TR 111, p.441, L. 3-8). After the meeting in Pittsburgh, Respondent created a purchase agreement (R. Bar Exhibit #12) and forwarded the proposed agreement to Mr. Joyce. Mr. Joyce did not sign the purchase agreement. (TR 111, p.439 L.2-23). The purchase agreement states that each party

"will afford, and have afforded any representative so designated reasonable access during normal business hours to all of the properties, books, contracts, and records of RIL cancerning the assets to be purchased, and will, when the other party reasonably requests, furnish and have furnished the other party and their counsel with all the information, including copies of books, contracts and records, concerning the asset to be purchased." (R. Bar Exhibit #12, p.5-6).

Neither Mr. Joyce nor his representatives received any documents or company records or notice of liens filed against the property by numerous individuals and entities at the time the sale was to be consummated. (TR III. p.439, L. 15-21). Respondent later told Mr. Joyce that the records were available in Chester, West Virginia, but when Mr. Joyce sent a representative to review the records in Chester, the representative was told that an employee had taken the records as collateral. (TR 111, p.448, L.1-24).

Sometime in March, 1985, Respondent and Mr. Joyce met and reached an agreement in principal for Mr. Joyce to purchase the leaseholds. (TR 111, p.442, L.14-20). No final price was agreed upon at that time. (TR 111, p.443, L.15-17). Respondent made representations that Mr. Joyce could immediately have all records relating to the purchase. (TR 111, p.443, L.11-17). After reaching the agreement in principal, Mr. Joyce wire-transferred \$105,000 to an RIL account at Chase Manhattan Bank in New York City on March 3, (TR 111, p.442, L.21-25). No written contract was 1985. executed. (TR 111, **p.439**, L.2-23). ever ${\tt Mr.}$ Joyce understood that the \$105,000.00 was a refundable deposit if the purchase was not consummated. (TR 111, p.446, L.17-24). The records were never delivered to Respondent. (TR 111, p,448, L.1-24).

After transferring the \$105,000.00 to the RIL account, Mr. Joyce employed an attorney in Chester, West Virginia to check on the status of any liens or encumbrances on the property. The attorney researched the public records and prepared and forwarded a list of liens and encumbrances dated April 30, 1985. (R. Bar Exhibit #14). According to Mr. Joyce, the encumbrances on the property totalled approximately 30% of all potential income from the property. (TR 111, p.453, L.3-15, R. Bar Exhibit #14). Mr. Joyce was not informed of these encumbrances at any point during the negotiations. (TR 111, p.441, L.3-8).

Cordon Williamson, an attorney and former employee of RIL who was involved in the Joyce transaction, testified that he was present when Respondent and Mr. Joyce discussed the nature of the \$105,000.00 deposit by telephone conference call. Respondent told Mr. Joyce that the down payment was to be placed in an escrow account and, if the purchase was not consummated, the money would be refunded. (TR III, p.411, L.8-25, p.412, L.1-23, p.413, L.1-8).

Jeffrey Dunham, an associate of Respondent secretary of RIL during this time period, testified that he was present during a meeting between Respondent and Mr. Joyce in New Yark City. The purpose of the meeting was for preliminary discussions relating to the purchase by Mr. Joyce of the leaseholds in Chester, West Virginia. Dunham testified that he and Respondent were aware of substantial encumbrances on the property totaling several hundred thousand dollars. (TR 11, p.369, L. 9-25, p.370, L. **1-25**, p.371, L.1-16.). ${\tt Mr.}$ Dunham stated that understanding of the terms of the sale were that, if the purchase was not consummated, the money would be refunded to Mr. Joyce. (TR 11, p.375, L.10-22).

Mr. Dunham further testified that "the entire structure of RIL was basically one large scam to be able to create a company that looked like it was profitable on the surface, for the purposes of manipulating the stock ... (TR 11, p.389, L.14-21).

Mimi Williams testified that she was employed by Respondent during 1984 and 1985 and recalled the attempted sale of the leaseholds to Mr. Joyce. Ms. Williams testified that \$49,000.00 was transferred to the law firm account of Cillo, Williamson, and Horowitz. (TR II, p.215, L.9-13). A portion of these funds were used as payroll for Respondent's law firm. (TR 11, p.216, L.24-25).

(TFB No. 88-10,336 (6B))

In 1983, Respondent established the law firm of Cillo, Williamson, and Horowitz, which later became Cillo, Williamson, and Dunham. (R. Bar Exhibit #4, Deposition, p.6). Respondent opened the law office in Newport Beach, California. (R. Bar Exhibit 4, Deposition, p.7, L.12-15). Respondent was admitted to practice law in Florida but not California. (R. Amended Complaint, Count 111, paragraph 37, Answer, paragraph 37).

In 1983, Mary O'Connell began working as a secretary for Respondent. (R. Bar Exhibit #4, Deposition, p.6, L.8-12). Ms. O'Connell believed that Respondent was licensed to practice law in the State of California. (R. Bar Exhibit #4, Deposition, p.9, L.1-4). Respondent had no diplomas or certificates on his office walls. (R. Bar Exhibit 4, Deposition, p.9, L.18-20).

In May 1985, Respondent prepared a trust agreement for Mary O'Connell and her husband John O'Connell. (R. Bar Exhibit #4, Deposition, p.11, L.10-13). The O'Connells paid Respondent \$250.00 for the preparation of the trust agreement. (R. Bar Exhibit #4, Deposition, p.12, L.18-20). On May 2, 1985, Respondent then recorded the Trust Agreement at the Orange County, California Recorder's Office. (R. Bar Exhibit 4, Deposition, p.11, L.12-13).

Respondent also represented the O'Connells in reference to a lease car dispute. (R. **Bar** Exhibit 4, Deposition, p.14, L.8-25). Respondent also provided legal advice to Ms. O'Connell and drafted proposed pleadings relative to an action against Ms. O'Connell's ex-husband. (R. Bar Exhibit 4, Deposition, p.16, L.3-15, and p.18, L.14-15).

During the course of her employment with Respondent, Ms. O'Connell observed Respondent use cocaine. Respondent provided Ms. O'Connell with cocaine. Ms. O'Connell also observed Respondent provide cocaine to Mimi Williams, who later became Respondent's secretary. (R. Bar Exhibit 4, Deposition, p.30-31).

After Ms. O'Connell terminated her employment with Respondent in 1985, she began receiving threatening telephone calls from Respondent. Respondent believed that Ms. O'Connell had taken his cats. Respondent told Ms. O'Connell to keep her children close and not let them out of her sight. (R. Bar Exhibit 4, Deposition, p.32, L.1-20).

In September 1984, Mimi Williams went to work for Respondent as his secretary and administrative assistant. (TR 11, p.203, L.23, and p.204, L.1). Ms. Williams worked for Respondent until April of 1985. (TR 11, p.204, L.2-3). During her employment with Respondent, Ms. Williams observed Respondent use cocaine and quaaludes. (TR 11, p.208, L.19-25).

Ms. Williams observed Respondent use cocaine both at the law office and at Respondent's home. (TR 11, p.209, L.5). Respondent provided cocaine and used cocaine with Ms. Williams. (TR II, p.209, L. 10). Ms. Williams also observed Respondent provide cocaine to Mary O'Connell and to Ms. Williams' daughter Cara Lehman. (TR II, p.211, L.2).

Respondent used Ms. Williams to make Respondent's cocaine deliveries. Respondent provided Ms. Williams with cash and sent her to pick up packages of cocaine. Ms. Williams delivered the packages to Respondent. (TR 11, p.209, L.21-25).

Cara Lehman testified **as** to her use of cocaine with Respondent. (TR 11, p.236, L.16). **Ms.** Lehman observed Respondent use cocaine both at the law office and at his home. (TR 11, p.236, L.21). **Ms.** Lehman also testified that while she was employed **as** Respondent's receptionist, some individuals came into the law office looking for Respondent. The individuals told Ms. Lehman that Respondent owed them money for cocaine, and that they were there to collect. (TR II, p.239, L.7-23).

Two (2) of Respondent's former associates testified relative to his use of cocaine. Jeffrey Dunham, Respondent's former partner in the law firm of Cillo, Dunham, and Williamson testified that he observed Respondent use cocaine on a number of occasions. (TR II, p.363, L.1-7). Mr. Dunham also recalled an instance where Mr. Schute, a supplier of cocaine to Respondent, was arrested

for possession of cocaine. A vial of cocaine was found by one of the staff members of Mr. Schute's office. After being contacted, Respondent advised them that he would retrieve the vial and dispose of it for them. Instead of disposing the vial, Respondent used the cocaine. (TR 11, p.391, L.16-24, and p.209, L.19-25).

Gordon Williamson, a former associate of Respondent, also testified as to Respondent's drug use. Mr. Williamson worked for Respondent from approximately August of 1984, through January, 1985. Mr. Williamson observed Respondent use cocaine on a number of occasions during the time he worked for Respondent. (TR 111, p.413, L.12-17). Mr. Williamson first observed Respondent use cocaine in their third year of law school. Mr. Williamson and Respondent graduated from California Western School of Law in 1978. (TR 111, p. 399, L.17-23). Mr. Williamson first observed Respondent use cocaine in the school newspaper office. (TR III, p.414, L.1-3).

(TFB No. 88-11,451 (6B))

In 1986, Respondent represented Gulf Tex Oil and Gas. Respondent was provided with an office by Gulf Tex Oil and Gas in Dallas, Texas. (TR I, p.60, L.6-23).

In 1986 Respondent met with Matthew Schwastz. Mr. Schwartz had been referred to Respondent by Mr. Schwartz' neighbor. (TR I, p.11, L.25, and p.12, L.1-6). Mr. Schwartz retained Respondent regarding a dispute with a printer. The printer was located in the Dallas, Texas area. (TR I, p.13, L.16). Respondent submitted an invoice to Mr. Schwartz for \$250.00. (TR I, p.15, L.7-21, and R. Bar Exhibit 1 and RR. p.6). Mr. Schwartz provided Respondent with a \$250.00 retainer regarding the dispute with the printer.

Mr. Schwartz inquired about Respondent's conspicuous lack of diplomas and professional licenses. Respondent explained to Mr. Schwartz that he had just moved. (TR I, p. 17, L.1-17). Respondent was not licensed to practice law in the State of Texas. (TR I, p.74, L.25, p.75, L.1).

Respondent telephonically contacted the printer in the presence of Mr. Schwartz. Respondent advised the printer that he was an attorney for Mr. Schwartz and representing him regarding the printing dispute. Respondent resolved the dispute to the satisfaction of Mr. Schwartz. (TR I, p.18, L.7-24).

Respondent subsequently discussed three (3) other legal matters with Mr. Schwartz. (TR I, p.19, L.2). Mr. Schwartz had a dispute with American Airlines for approximately \$6,000.00 regarding lost luggage. Respondent agreed to pursue the collection of this dispute on a contingency basis. (TR I, p.20, L.2-18).

Mr. Schwartz also sought Respondent's assistance regarding a dispute with Federal Express. There was no fee agreement discussed regarding the Federal Express dispute. Respondent did not pursue any resolution regarding the Federal Express matter. (TR I, p.23, L.15-24).

Mr. Schwartz also sought Respondent's assistance regarding a dispute with the Ad-A-Girl employment agency. Mr. Schwartz hired a typist whose services he had previously used while she was retained by the Ad-A-Girl temporary services. Ad-A-Girl then sought payment for those services rendered by the typist subsequent to her temporary assignment on the basis of a restriction in the temporary employment contract. (TR I, p.25). Respondent agreed to represent Mr. Schwartz in this dispute.

Ad-A-Girl brought suit in Dade County, Florida. (TR I, p.27, L.7). In the presence of Mr. Schwartz, Respondent telephonically contacted the attorney for Ad-A-Girl in Florida. (TR I, p. 29, L.13-18). During the telephone conversation, Respondent sought an extension to respond to the lawsuit.

(TR I, p.30, L.7). Respondent advised Mr. Schwartz that he wanted to seek a change in venue to Dallas. (TR I, p.30, L. 24).

After a period of about six (6) weeks subsequent to the last meeting with Respondent, Mr. Schwartz was served with a Judgment after his failure to appear in the Ad-A-Girl matter. (TR I, p.32, L.2-9). Mr. Schwartz then attempted to contact Respondent, and was advised that Respondent was no longer at that address. (TR I, p.32, L.18-24). Respondent did not provide Mr. Schwartz with a forwarding address, nor any notice of his move. (TR I, p.34, L.6-13). After learning of the Ad-A-Girl Judgment, Mr. Schwartz satisfied the Judgment. (TR I, p.35, L.1-4).

(TFB No. 89-10,588 (6B))

Clifford Jones met Respondent while both individuals worked for American Gold Dealers Association. (TR II, p. 254, L.10-12). In 1982, Mr. Jones left American Gold Dealers and created First Federal Monetary Corporation of Davie, Florida. (TR 11, p.254, L.12-19). In 1982, Mr. Jones retained Respondent as corporate legal counsel. (TR 11, p.326, L.7-9). Respondent assisted Mr. Jones in the establishment of the business. (TR 11, p.326, L.21). Respondent was also initially retained by the corporation to review scripts to be used in telephone solicitations. (TR 11, p.327, L.7-8).

Sometime in 1982 or 1983, Mr. Jones provided a \$10,000 cash retainer to Respondent. (TR II, p.260, L.13-18). The retainer was provided for whatever legal problems arose in the future. (TR 11, p.261, L.12-15). Respondent and Mr. Jones maintained regular communication from 1982 through 1986. (TR II, p.260, L.19-22).

In 1985, Mr. Jones was charged with wire and mail fraud. (TR II, p.259, L.9-19). Mr. Jones sought Respondent's assistance regarding these criminal charges. (TR 11, p.260, L.7-10). Respondent requested \$30,000.00 for his services. (TR 11, p.260, L.10, and p.332, L.12). Mr. Jones was not able to meet the requested sum and received a court appointed attorney. (TR 11, p.260, L.11-12, and p.261, L.18). Mr. Jones later pled guilty to the charges.

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