ONT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

76,254

SID J. WHITE

1991

CLERK, SOPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs .

JOSEPH P. CILLO,

Respondent.

89-10,588 (6B)

On Review of Factual Findings and Recommended Discipline contained in Report of Referee from TFB Nos.: 88-10,252(6B) 88-10,335(6B) 88-10,336(6B) 88-11,451(6B)

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT JOSEPH P. CILLO

HUGH N. SMITH, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No, 120166 LORI ANNE BROWN, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 846767 SMITH & FULLER, P.A. Post Office Box 3288 Tampa, Florida 33601 Telephone: (813) 221-7171

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In petitioning for review of the Referee's findings of fact and recommended discipline, The Bar would have this Court impose discipline commensurate with the severity of their naked allegations as advanced, instead of the discipline appropriate for the few allegations actually supported by clear and convincing evidence.

Where the Referee found that Respondent had engaged in the unauthorized practice of law, he cited three (3) isolated instances of such practice and went on to find that there existed several substantial mitigating factors to be considered in assessing discipline. With respect to Respondent's admitted use of cocaine, the Referee similarly relied on several mitigating factors and went to great lengths in articulating same in recommending a public reprimand for both violations. The aforestated violations are the sum total of that which was proven by The Bar.

It is patently clear that with respect to the violations alleged, The Bar would have this Court ignore the Referee's findings of fact and, instead, take the allegations of the Complaint as having been tried and proven. Rather than replacing the Referee's examination of the evidence, demeanor and credibility of the witnesses, with the unsubstantiated allegations of The Bar, Respondent would urge a practical application of case law on these various questions which requires that due deference be given to the findings and recommendations of the Referee where substantial mitigation is present.

ARGUMENT

I. THE BAR FAILS TO DEMONSTRATE THAT REFEREE'S FINDINGS WERE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS WHERE THE REFEREE FOUND THAT RESPONDENT'S OF WORTHLESS CHECKS CONSTITUTE A DISCIPLINARY VIOLATION.

"It is the function of the Referee to weigh the evidence and determine its sufficiency..." The Florida Bar v. Scott, 566 So. 2d 765, 767 (Fla. 1990) The court in Scott went on to state that it would not "re-weigh the evidence or substitute our [their] judgment for that of the referee unless it is clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support."

Respondent would submit that with respect to the charges pertaining to the Lenoirs, as well as those Complainants discussed hereinafter, The Bar urges this Court essentially, to disbar Respondent based not on the evidence as presented, but rather, based on the case they had hoped to prove.

The Referee found that Mr. Cillo, in connection with Liberty Limited, assisted Mr. Lenoir and undertook to incorporate that corporation while acting as an attorney and, therefore, engaged in the unauthorized practice of law. (RR, 2) Mr. Cillo acknowledges having contacted Prentice-Hall in order to arrange for the incorporation, paying personally for the service, and in turn, receiving money from Mr. Lenoir. (TR I, 173, 8-12)

Respondent does not challenge the Referee's findings in this regard insofar as they were supported by competent evidence.

The Bar, however, asserts on appeal that Mr. Cillo engaged in misconduct relating to the purchase of a diamond ring from the Lenoirs. In furtherance of its position, The Bar suggests, in summary fashion, that the "record clearly shows that Respondent wrote two (2) separate checks with knowledge that there were insufficient funds in the account to cover the checks." (Florida Bar Initial Brief, page 24) The Bar then goes on to say that "[t]he evidence presented relating to Respondent's purchase of the diamond ring from Mr. Lenoir shows that Respondent engaged in dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation in promising to repay the worthless check." (Id.) While this conclusion is certainly convenient, it is nonetheless ill-founded and lacking in support.

Where the Referee found that the checks were dishonored due to insufficient funds, this hardly supports The Bar's quantum leap from suspicion to conclusion that Respondent knowingly issued worthless checks. In fact, the Referee specifically stated in his findings that while Respondent's difficulty in paying for the ring was due to his personal financial problems at the time, it did not result from any dishonesty or other misconduct on his part. (RR,

3) (emphasis added)

Respondent candidly admitted that he failed to make good on the checks until quite some time later in 1988. In fact, evidence was presented that a check issued to him in excess of the purchase amount had been dishonored, not once, but twice, while attempting to pay the Lenoirs. Subsequently, Respondent experienced financial hardships which precluded him from making payment until some time later. (TR I, 164, 18-25; TR I, 165, 10-11)

It would appear that The Bar urges this Court to disregard Respondent's testimony and the Referee's findings based thereon. However, it must first be remembered that the Referee in this case, alone, had the unique ability to listen to the witnesses and observe their demeanor and access credibility.

The findings of fact on this count are presumed to be correct and must be upheld unless clearly erroneous. <u>Scott</u>, 566 So. 2d at 767; <u>The Florida Bar v. Thomas</u>, 16 FLW S451 (June 14, 1991) The Florida Bar has failed to demonstrate that the Referee's findings are contrary to the evidence in any material respect. Accordingly, Respondent requests approval of the recommended findings of fact on Count I.

II. THE REFERE'S FINDING THAT NO DISCIPLINARY VIOLATION OCCURRED AS A RESULT OF RESPONDENT'S ACTIONS IN THE CONTEXT OF A BUSINESS TRANSACTION WERE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS AND SHOULD, THEREFORE, GO UNDISTURBED.

With respect to Mr. Cillo's business negotiations while President of Resources International, Id. ("RIL"), The Bar charged five (5) violations of the disciplinary rule ranging from engaging in the commission of a felony or misdemeanor to various violations having to do with client monies.

After hearing witness testimony and reviewing certain documentary evidence pertaining to these alleged violations, the Referee found no misconduct on the part of Mr. Cillo as a result of the transaction involving James Joyce. Specifically, his findings reflect that Mr. Joyce's company released monies to RIL knowing that a portion of that money would be used to satisfy an outstanding indebtedness to another corporation, Combustion Engineering. (RR, 3-4) The Referee's conclusion that Joyce knew of this pre-existing indebtedness was certainly supported by Mr. Cillo's testimony, as well as that of Mr. Joyce. It was clearly established that the transaction could not be consummated without first paying Combustion Engineering. (TR 111, 441, 3-6; TR III, 569, 15-25; TR III, 570, 7-25)

The Referee further found that the balance of the funds from Joyce's corporation were used in the day-to-day expenses of RIL and that Respondent received no personal gain from the transaction.

(RR, 3) Moreover, the Referee concluded that the monies were used by RIL, as contemplated, and that the corporation had no ability as

was evident, to refund the money in the event the deal fell through. (RR, 4)

The Bar, in challenging these findings, argues that the Referee erred in finding that there was no misconduct and further, erred in finding no agreement to refund the \$105,000.00. As grounds therefor The Bar cites to the testimony of Joyce where he stated that he was not informed of RIL's financial condition or of the extensive liens and encumbrances placed on the leaseholds. (Florida Bar Initial Brief, Page 26)

Respondent would submit that the mere existence of testimony inconsistent with the Referee's findings does not demonstrate error. Instead, the inquiry of this Court must be whether there existed competent evidentiary support to justify the Referee's findings. The Florida Bar v. Simmons, 16 H.W 5433 (June 14, 1991) citing The Florida Bar v. Scott, 566 So. 2d 765, 767 (Fla. 1990); The Florida Bar v. Seldin, 526 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1988) In this regard, such testimony was, in fact, given as shown by Respondent's recitation of the facts on this count. supra, 4-6.

The Bar asserts in conclusory fashion that "the facts and documentation presented at the final hearing in this cause clearly show that Respondent violated the alleged disciplinary rules and his actions towards James Joyce." (Florida Bar Initial Brief, page 27)

The Rules of Professional Conduct, as well as applicable case law, place the burden on the petitioning party to demonstrate that the Referee's findings are erroneous. Rule 3-7.6 (c)(5) The Bar

has failed to demonstrate such error and for that reason, the Referee's findings pertaining to Count III should be upheld.³

³The Bar, in **its** initial brief at page 27, sets forth several attorney discipline cases for the proposition that an attorney who violates disciplinary rules while engaged in a business relationship shall be subject to discipline by this court. <u>See</u>, <u>The Florida Bar v. Hosner</u>, 520 So.2d 567 (Fla. 1988); <u>The Florida Bar v. Bussey</u>, 529 So.2d 1112 (Fla. 1988). Respondent agrees with this proposition and seeks not to refute its accuracy. However, its applicability herein is inappropriate insofar as The Bar has failed to demonstrate misconduct in the first instance.

III. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF **DISCIPLINARY** VIOLATIONS CONFINED TO RESPONDENT'S ARE PREPARATION OF TRUST AND RESPONDENT'S Α ADMITTED PERSONAL USE OF COCAINE OCCURRED PRIOR TO 1985.

The Bar, in addressing Count 111, first states that in 1983, Respondent established the law firm of Cillo, Williamson and Horowitz.⁴ (Florida Bar Initial Brief, page 30) The Bar next states that Respondent engaged in the unauthorized practice of law in the State of California. (<u>Id</u>.) While presumably attempting to create the inference that Mr. Cillo was continuously and systematically practicing law in violation of the disciplinary rules, the record and findings of the Referee show otherwise.

As set forth in Respondent's recitation of the facts, the firm was formed for the primary purpose of managing RIL. In fact, Ms. O'Connell testified that Mr. Cillo, in his capacity as President, engaged primarily in the sale of limited partnership units in RIL's wells. supra, page 8.

Contrary to what The Bar suggests, the Referee's findings that Mr. Cillo engaged in unauthorized practice resulted only from his preparation of a Trust Agreement for the O'Connell's. (RR, 5) Respondent admitted having prepared the document for the O'Connell's who were, at that time, considered personal friends. Where the Referee found a violation based on this act, Respondent

⁴The firm name was later changed to Cillo, Williamson and Dunham, as testified to by Respondent, as well as various witnesses.

asserts no challenge and, in fact, did not refute or deny his preparation of the Trust.

However, The Bar mischaracterizes the Referee's findings and departs from the articulated reasons contained in his report; instead, conveniently replacing same with self-serving conclusions. Respondent is in agreement with The Bar that the findings of the Referee should be upheld, but urges that the basis therefor should be given due deference, and not subjected to The Bar's expansive creativity.

with respect to the Respondent's admitted use of cocaine, the parties stipulated that such usage, in 1985, was unlawful. The Referee acknowledged this and accordingly, found that Respondent's act violated Article XI, 11.2(3)(a) and (b). The Referee noted that no commercial involvement in the use or delivery of cocaine has been shown. (RR, 5) In fact, the Referee goes on to state that "The evidence suggests that it was almost the thing to do in California in those times and places." (RR, 6)

More importantly, the Referee found that "Respondent has not used cocaine since 1985, and The Bar has not shown otherwise." (Id.) Mr. Cillo testified that his use of cocaine was the single most embarrassing and hardest thing for him to confront, both professionally and personally.

The Bar, irrespective of the Referee's findings, deems it necessary to focus upon the fact that others partook, along with Mr. Cillo, in the ingestion of cocaine and for that, The Bar wishes to blame and punish Mr. Cillo for their conduct as well.

In so doing, The Bar attempts to show similarity between the case at bar and The Florida Bar v. Beasley, 351 So. 2d, 959 (Fla. 1977), a case where this court recommended disbarment for respondent therein. Simply stated, Beasley was convicted for delivery of marijuana where he directed his client to a person who could supply her with the drug. The afore-described conduct took place on June 24, 1975, and he was subsequently found guilty of delivery of cannabis on August 20, 1975. This Court disbarred Beasley in September, 1977.

Clearly, <u>Beasley</u> involved conduct unbefitting a member of the legal profession. Beasley directed his client to a supplier - an act displaying total disregard for the most sacred of duties, that **owed** to your client in preserving and protecting their interest. Disciplinary proceedings ensued as a direct result of that conduct and within two (2) years from the time of his conviction, Beasley was disbarred. Much unlike the facts of <u>Beasley</u>, Mr. Cillo openly admitted his recreational use of cocaine while the target of a barrage of charged disciplinary violations. His use, as pointed out by the Referee, was confined to a period before 1985 - <u>six</u> <u>Years ago</u>. (emphasis added) As a result of this admission, the Referee found the violation commensurate with the evidence.

Respondent's complete rehabilitation was supported by the evidence and acknowledged by the Referee and now, six years later, The Bar urges this Court to impose a degree of discipline which would do nothing more than fly in the face of Mr. Cillo's successful recovery from the use of narcotics. The Referee, in recommending discipline, has not excused Mr. Cillo's conduct as The

Bar seems to suggest. A more detailed discussion of the appropriateness at the Referee's recommendation will follow. \underline{Infra} , pages 37-41.

IV. THE BAR FAILS TO **DEMONSTRATE** THAT REFEREE'S FINDINGS WERE **CLEARLY ERRONEOUS** WHERE HE FOUND THAT RESPONDENT ENGAGED IN UNAUTHORIZED PRACTICE WITH RESPECT THE TO PRINTING DISPUTE BUT UNDERTOOK NO **FURTHER** REPRESENTATION.

As it pertains to the charges relating to Matthew Schwartz, Respondent notes that The Bar's argument amounts to, essentially, a re-recitation of their facts **as** set forth on pages 14, 15 and 16 of its initial brief. Rather than following suit, Respondent would respectfully refer this Court to the facts pertaining to this Count as previously set forth at pages 11, 12 and 13 of this brief.

In connection with Respondent's dealings with Mr. Schwartz, the Referee found that Mr. Cillo performed legal services for Mr. Schwartz in telephonically contacting a printing company on his behalf. (RR, 6) It was this representation for which Respondent received \$250.00. (Id.) Mr. Cillo's assistance in this regard constituted a violation of Rule 3-101(B) according to the Referee. (RR, 10) Insofar as there exists competent evidence to support this findings, Respondent asserts no challenge pursuant thereto.

The Bar again, goes on to recite the direct testimony of Mr. Schwartz in suggesting that Respondent's representation of Schwartz was of a more expansive nature than that found by the Referee. Such, however, is not the case. The Referee specifically found that Respondent discussed another legal matter with Schwartz involving a lawsuit pending in a Florida court, for which

Respondent telephoned Plaintiff's attorney seeking an extension. (RR, 6)

Mr. Cillo testified that because the amount in controversy was so small, he and Schwartz agreed that legal representation was economically imprudent. No further action was undertaken on behalf of Schwartz, nor did Mr. Cillo receive any money. (TR I 63, 8-25) This testimony provides competent evidence in support of the Referee's finding that "Respondent did not undertake and was not retained to defend Mr. Schwartz in that lawsuit." (RR, 6)

As previously asserted in response to a similarly fashioned argument contained in The Bar's brief, this Court has recently made clear the fact that it cannot re-weigh the evidence or substitute its judgment for that of the Referee unless it is clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. See, The Florida Bar v. Simmons, 16 FLW S433 (June 14, 1991), citing, The Florida Bar v. Scott, 566 So.2d 765, 767 (Fla. 1990)

It is seemingly the case that where there exists competing testimony, The Bar contends that error has occurred unless, of course, the findings are in its favor. Fortunately, this is not the extent of The Bar's burden.

This Court has repeatedly underscored the importance of maintaining the integrity of the fact finding process due to the Referee's unique position to assess the credibility of witnesses.

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